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PREFACE


This tenth edition of Keen’s Latin American Civilization responds to numerous requests from teachers and reviewers for a two-volume text that better fits the way most of us teach the undergraduate Latin American history survey: in two semester-length courses, one devoted to the colonial period and another to the modern era. There were also requests that we update some of Benjamin Keen’s introductions to reflect changes in the way historians talk about certain concepts and that some of the cultural overgeneralizations be toned down. We have tried to do this as unobtrusively as possible, so as not to deaden Keen’s lively, accessible style, which we suspect is one reason for the book’s continued success. Again in response to repeated requests, we have amplified information about the origins of sources, and have noted authorial biases wherever possible, especially where those biases were not self-evident. This should make it easier for readers, especially students, to evaluate the reliability and relevance of the various sources.


One benefit of dividing the book into two volumes is that we had more space for new additions to the modern period sources, which made it possible to honor several of the reviewers’ requests, especially in the sections about the most recent periods. One of the main decisions was to divide what was previously Chapter 16 into two new chapters (Chapters 6 and 7 in this edition), allowing for a more careful and focused treatment of the last decades of the twentieth century. As a result, we were able to include selections on subjects as crucial as the Cuban Revolution, the rise of neoliberalism, drug wars in Colombia, human-rights abuses in Central America, and the 1980s expansion of civil society in the Southern Cone.


Reviewers also asked that we include materials representing points of view other than that of progressive voices, especially in the coverage of more recent economic and political issues. In order to address this request, which we consider not only fair but quite useful for pro-con teaching exercises, we paired previous documents criticizing neoliberalism with two others—one written by neoliberal economists justifying their reforms in Pinochet’s Chile, and another from the Inter-American Development Bank describing the course of such reforms in the whole region the 1990s. In a similar spirit, as a counterbalance to previous selections reflecting the empowerment of Indian voices in Andean countries of the last decade, we added a text by Mario Vargas Llosa criticizing pro-Indian “racism.”


Addressing the need for a more diverse thematic range, we added readings on private life and popular culture to the more homogeneous economic and political chapters. Thus, for example, this edition includes an exchange of love letters between Simón Bolívar and Manuela Saenz (Chapter 1), a letter on “family values” by liberal ideologue Melchor Ocampo and Flora Tristán’s reflections on nineteenth-century Peruvian women (Chapter 3), and two readings on mid-twentieth-century popular culture in Chapter 5: Gilberto Freyre’s analysis of “mulatto football” in Brazil, and Salvador Novo’s description of popular entertainment on a Sunday afternoon in Mexico City in the 1940s.


In order to remain faithful to the primary source nature of the selections, we replaced Pedro Calmon’s after-the-fact account of post-abolition and urban modernization in Brazil with firsthand documents on the same issues: a newspaper manifesto by abolitionist Jose do Patrocínio, Prefect Pereira Passos’s blueprint for urban reform in Rio, and a chronicle of those same reforms by an American traveler.


Finally, the last chapters have been updated to reflect recent directions in Latin American politics and society. New selections include an analysis of the Latin American Left, a human-rights report on the Mexican drug war, a document reflecting legislation on sexual rights in Brazil, a speech by Hugo Chávez against US imperialism, and an International Court of Justice ruling on US intervention in Nicaragua.


As always, we had lots of help with this book. A special thank you to our Westview editor, Kelli Fillingim. Without her enthusiasm, encouragement, and patience, this book might never have seen the light of day. Thanks as well to our production editor, Cisca Schreefel, and copyeditor, Karl Yambert, who saw us through the final stages with meticulous work and good cheer. Thanks also to Richard Shindell for his help in translating and editing several of the new selections. And last but never least, the editors would like to express their deep appreciation to the eight anonymous readers provided by Westview Press. Their excellent suggestions have been invaluable as we strive to make this latest edition of Keen’s Latin American Civilization even better than its predecessors!


                        Robert M. Buffington


                        University of Colorado Boulder


                        Lila Caimari


                        CONICET/Universidad de San


                        Andrés, Buenos Aires
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INDEPENDENCE AND ITS AFTERMATH
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The Struggle for Independence


Many factors combined to cause the Latin American wars of independence. The discontent of the Creole class with Spanish restrictions on its economic and political activity, the influence of French and English liberal doctrines of political liberty and social equality, the powerful example of the American and French revolutions, and foreign interest in the liquidation of the Spanish Empire in the Americas—all played a part in producing the great upheaval.


The immediate cause of the Spanish American revolutions was the occupation of Spain by French troops in 1808. Napoleon’s intervention provoked an uprising of the Spanish people, headed by juntas—local governing committees. Creole leaders in the colonies soon took advantage of Spain’s distress. Professing loyalty to “the beloved Ferdinand VII,” a prisoner in France, they forced the removal of allegedly unreliable Spanish officials and formed governing juntas to rule in the name of the captive king. Their claims of loyalty did not convince the Spanish authorities, and fighting soon broke out between rebellious patriots and loyalists to Spain.


Simón Bolívar led the struggle for independence in northern South America, and José de San Martín directed the military efforts of the patriots to the south. In 1822, the enigmatic San Martín resigned command of his army, leaving to Bolívar the task of completing the conquest of Peru, the last Spanish stronghold in the New World. The 1824 battle of Ayacucho virtually ended the war. Brazil achieved a relatively peaceful separation from Portugal in 1822, under the leadership of Prince Pedro and his adviser José Bonifacio de Andrada.


The Mexican Revolution, initiated in 1810 by the Creole priest Miguel Hidalgo, was continued after his death by another liberal curate, José María Morelos. These men attempted to combine the Creole ideal of independence with a program of social reform to benefit the Indian and mixed-blood masses. The radicalism of Hidalgo and Morelos alienated many Creole conservatives, who joined the royalist forces to suppress the revolt. Later, fearing the loss of their privileges as a result of the liberal revolution of 1820 in Spain, the same conservative coalition schemed to bring about a separation from Spain. They found an agent in the ambitious Creole officer Agustín de Iturbide. His Plan of Iguala offered a compromise solution temporarily acceptable to liberals and conservatives, to Creoles and many Spaniards. Slight loyalist opposition was swiftly overcome, and in September 1822, a national congress proclaimed the independence of the Mexican Empire.


1. THE FORGING OF A REBEL


In his brief but valuable autobiography, Manuel Belgrano (1770–1820), one of the fathers of Argentine independence, describes the influences and events that transformed a young Creole of wealth and high social position into an ardent revolutionary. The French Revolution, disillusionment with Bourbon liberalism, the English invasions, and finally the events of 1808 in Spain all played their part in this process. Although not published until after his death, Belgrano’s autobiography was written in 1814 while he waited to hear the outcome of his trial for military failures suffered by the insurgent army while under his command. He was subsequently exonerated of all charges and sent to Europe as an emissary of the independent Argentine government.


The place of my birth was Buenos Aires; my parents were Don Domingo Belgrano y Peri, known as Pérez, a native of Onella in Spain, and Doña María Josefa González Casero, a native of Buenos Aires. My father was a merchant, and since he lived in the days of monopoly he acquired sufficient wealth to live comfortably and to give his children the best education to be had in those days.


I studied my first letters, Latin grammar, philosophy, and a smattering of theology in Buenos Aires. My father then sent me to Spain to study law, and I began my preparation at Salamanca; I was graduated at Valladolid, continued my training at Madrid, and was admitted to the bar at Valladolid. . . .


Since I was in Spain in 1789, and the French Revolution was then causing a change in ideas, especially among the men of letters with whom I associated, the ideals of liberty, equality, security, and property took a firm hold on me, and I saw only tyrants in those who would restrain a man, wherever he might be, from enjoying the rights with which God and Nature had endowed him. . . .


When I completed my studies in 1793 political economy enjoyed great popularity in Spain; I believe this was why I was appointed secretary of the consulado of Buenos Aires, established when Gardoqui was minister. The official of the department in charge of these matters even asked me to suggest some other well-informed persons who could be appointed to similar bodies to be established in the principal American ports.


When I learned that these consulados were to be so many Economic Societies that would discuss the state of agriculture, industry, and commerce in their sessions, my imagination pictured a vast field of activity, for I was ignorant of Spanish colonial policy. I had heard some muffled murmuring among the Americans, but I attributed this to their failure to gain their ends, never to evil designs of the Spaniards that had been systematically pursued since the conquest.


On receiving my appointment I was infatuated with the brilliant prospects for America. I had visions of myself writing memorials concerning the provinces so that the authorities might be informed and provide for their well-being. It may be that an enlightened minister like Gardoqui, who had resided in the United States, had the best of intentions in all this. . . .


I finally departed from Spain for Buenos Aires; I cannot sufficiently express the surprise I felt when I met the men named by the king to the council that was to deal with agriculture, industry, and commerce and work for the happiness of the provinces composing the viceroyalty of Buenos Aires. All were Spanish merchants. With the exception of one or two they knew nothing but their monopolistic business, namely, to buy at four dollars and sell for eight. . . .


My spirits fell, and I began to understand that the colonies could expect nothing from men who placed their private interests above those of the community. But since my position gave me an opportunity to write and speak about some useful topics, I decided at least to plant a few seeds that someday might bear fruit. . . .


I wrote various memorials about the establishment of schools. The scarcity of pilots and the direct interest of the merchants in the project presented favorable circumstances for the establishment of a school of mathematics, which I obtained on condition of getting the approval of the Court. This, however, was never secured; in fact, the government was not satisfied until the school had been abolished, because although the peninsulars [European-born Spaniards] recognized the justice and utility of such establishments, they were opposed to them because of a mistaken view of how the colonies might best be retained.


The same happened to a drawing school, which I managed to establish without spending even half a real for the teacher. The fact is that neither these nor other proposals to the government for the development of agriculture, industry, and commerce, the three important concerns of the consulado, won its official approval; the sole concern of the Court was with the revenue that it derived from each of these branches. They said that all the proposed establishments were luxuries, and that Buenos Aires was not yet in a condition to support them.


I promoted various other useful and necessary projects, which had more or less the same fate, but it will be the business of the future historian of the consulado to give an account of them; I shall simply say that from the beginning of 1794 to July 1806, I passed my time in futile efforts to serve my country. They all foundered on the rock of the opposition of the government of Buenos Aires, or that of Madrid, or that of the merchants who composed the consulado, for whom there was no other reason, justice, utility, or necessity than their commercial interest. Anything that came into conflict with that interest encountered a veto, and there was nothing to be done about it.


It is well known how [British] General [William] Beresford entered Buenos Aires with about four hundred men in 1806. At that time I had been a captain in the militia for ten years, more from whim than from any attachment to the military art. My first experience of war came at that time. The Marqués de Sobremonte, then viceroy of the provinces of La Plata, sent for me several days before Beresford’s disastrous entrance and requested me to form a company of cavalry from among the young men engaged in commerce. He said that he would give me veteran officers to train them; I sought them but could not find any, because of the great hostility felt for the militia in Buenos Aires. . . .


The general alarm was sounded. Moved by honor, I flew to the fortress, the point of assembly; I found there neither order nor harmony in anything, as must happen with groups of men who know nothing of discipline and are completely insubordinate. The companies were formed there, and I was attached to one of them. I was ashamed that I had not the slightest notion of military science and had to rely entirely on the orders of a veteran officer—who also joined voluntarily, for he was given no assignment.


This was the first company, which marched to occupy the Casa de las Filipinas. Meanwhile the others argued with the viceroy himself that they were obliged only to defend the city and not to go out into the country; consequently they would agree only to defend the heights. The result was that the enemy, meeting with no opposition from veteran troops or disciplined militia, forced all the passes with the greatest ease. There was some stupid firing on the part of my company and some others in an effort to stop the invaders, but all in vain, and when the order came to retreat and we were falling back I heard someone say: “They did well to order us to retreat, for we were not made for this sort of thing.”


I must confess that I grew angry, and that I never regretted more deeply my ignorance of even the rudiments of military science. My distress grew when I saw the entrance of the enemy troops, and realized how few of them there were for a town of the size of Buenos Aires. I could not get the idea out of my head, and I almost went out of my mind, it was so painful to me to see my country under an alien yoke, and above all in such a degraded state that it could be conquered by the daring enterprise of the brave and honorable Beresford, whose valor I shall always admire. [BK: A resistance movement under the leadership of Santiago Liniers drives the British out of Buenos Aires. A second English invasion, commanded by General John Whitelocke, is defeated, and the entire British force is compelled to surrender.]


General Liniers ordered the quartermaster-general to receive the paroles of the officer prisoners; for this reason Brigadier-General Crawford, together with his aides and other high officers, came to his house. My slight knowledge of French, and perhaps certain civilities that I showed him, caused General Crawford to prefer to converse with me, and we entered upon a discussion that helped to pass the time—although he never lost sight of his aim of gaining knowledge of the country and, in particular, of its opinion of the Spanish Government.


So, having convinced himself that I had no French sympathies or connections, he divulged to me his ideas about our independence, perhaps in the hope of forming new links with this country, since the hope of conquest had failed. I described our condition to him, and made it plain that we wanted our old master or none at all; that we were far from possessing the means required for the achievement of independence; that even if it were won under the protection of England, she would abandon us in return for some advantage in Europe, and then we would fall under the Spanish sword; that every nation sought its own interest and did not care about the misfortunes of others. He agreed with me, and when I had shown how we lacked the means for winning independence, he put off its attainment for a century.


How fallible are the calculations of men! One year passed, and behold, without any effort on our part to become independent, God Himself gave us our opportunity as a result of the events of 1808 in Spain and Bayonne. Then it was that the ideals of liberty and independence came to life in America, and the Americans began to speak frankly of their rights.


2. A QUESTION OF LEADERSHIP


The principal military campaigns to liberate South America from Spanish colonial rule were directed by two men, Simón Bolívar and José de San Martín. Both were professionally trained Creole military officers and revolutionary freemasons (like their North American counterpart, George Washington). The similarities end there. Simón Bolívar (1783–1830), president and supreme commander of the armies of Gran Colombia, was an ambitious visionary politician bent on uniting all of northern South America under one government. José de San Martín (1778–1850), Protector of Peru and commander of the Argentine Army of the North, was a professional soldier who had served with distinction in Spanish army campaigns in Africa and against the French invaders. The two commanders met in Guayaquil, Ecuador, on July 26, 1822, to plan the final campaign to defeat the royalist army in Peru. The meeting was held in secret, and historians can only speculate about what transpired. But in an August 29 letter sent from Lima, Peru, to “the Most Excellent Liberator of Colombia, Señor Simón Bolívar,” San Martín announced his intention to step down, leaving Bolívar in charge of the patriot armies. Evidence suggests that San Martín considered Bolívar incapable of sharing command—or the glory of the final campaign—and the letter supports this interpretation of events. He had other reasons as well. In a letter sent just a few days earlier to his Chilean ally Bernardo O’Higgins (1778–1842), San Martín confessed, “I’m tired of being called a tyrant and of everyone saying that I wish to be king, emperor, or the devil himself. Moreover my health is much deteriorated. Finally, my youth was sacrificed in service to the Spanish, my middle years in service to my country; I think I have the right to dispose of my old age.”


Dear General:


As I told you in my last letter . . . having taken back supreme command of this republic [Peru] . . . the duties that surrounded me at the time did not permit me to write you with the care I would have liked. Now that I have fulfilled those duties, I [write again] not only with my customary frankness but also with the attention that the best interests of America require.


The outcome of our meeting [in Guayaquil] has produced what I was promised for the quick termination of the war. Unfortunately I am firmly convinced either that you did not take seriously my offer to serve under your orders, with the forces at my command, or that my person is somehow troublesome to you.


The reasons you gave me were that your sense of propriety would never permit you to command me and that even in the event that this difficulty could be surmounted you were sure that the Congress of Colombia would not authorize you to leave the territory of the republic. Let me tell you, general, that these reasons don’t seem plausible to me. The first refutes itself. As for the second, I am convinced that Congress would greet your request with unanimous approval if it had to do with finishing the struggle in which we are currently engaged with the help of you and your army, and that the honor of putting an end to war would flow back as much on you as on the republic you preside over.


Don’t be deceived[,] general. The news you have of the royalist forces is wrong: in Upper and Lower Peru they number more than 19,000 veterans [probably a numerical inversion of 10,900], who can be mustered in the space of two months.


The patriot army, decimated by illnesses, can send into battle only 8,500 men, most of them new recruits. General Santa Cruz’s division—whose casualties, he writes me, have not been replaced despite repeated requests—will have experienced considerable losses after his long overland march and can provide no support for the current campaign. The division of 1,400 Colombians that you sent will be needed to maintain the garrison at Callao and order in Lima.


It follows that without the support of the army at your command, the operation underway to establish intermediate ports [not controlled by the Spanish] will not provide the hoped-for advantages. If powerful forces don’t distract the enemy, the struggle will be prolonged indefinitely. I say indefinitely because I’m firmly convinced that whatever the vicissitudes of the present war, the independence of America is irrevocable. But I’m also firmly convinced that its prolongation will destroy its peoples [pueblos], and it is a sacred duty of the men to whom their destiny has been entrusted to avoid the continuation of evils of such magnitude.


In conclusion, general, my mind is made up. I have convoked the first congress of Peru for the twentieth of this coming month, and the day after its installation, I will embark for Chile, convinced that my presence is the only obstacle that blocks you from coming to the aid of Peru with the army at your command.


For me, it would have been the pinnacle of happiness to finish the war of independence under the command of a general to whom America owes its liberty. Destiny took a different turn and it is necessary to accept that fact.


Without doubt, after my departure from Peru, the government you establish will request the active cooperation of Colombia and you will not be able to deny such a just request, I’m sending you a list of all the leaders whose military and private conduct it might be useful for you to know about. . . .


I will say nothing to you about joining Guayaquil to the republic of Colombia. Allow me[,] general, to tell you that I don’t believe it is up to us to decide this important point. Once the war is over, the respective governments should have no problem coming to an agreement that will be in the interests of the new states of South America.


I have spoken frankly to you, general, but the sentiments expressed in this letter will remain buried in the most profound silence. If they should come to light, the enemies of our liberty would take advantage of them to slander [our liberty], and the schemers and self-seekers would use them to sow discord.


With Captain Delgado, the bearer of this letter, I’m sending you a shotgun and a pair of pistols along with the caballo de paso [a Peruvian horse breed renowned for its smooth gait] I offered you in Guayaquil. Please accept, general, these tokens of appreciation from the foremost of your admirers.


With these sentiments and only desiring that you have the glory of ending the war of South American independence, I am again yours truly.


3. MAN OF DESTINY


There is no more controversial figure in Latin American history than Simón Bolívar (1783–1830). To his admirers or worshipers he is the Liberator of a continent; to his critics he is the proverbial “man on horseback,” an ambitious schemer who sacrificed San Martín to his passion for power and glory. Louis Perú de Lacroix, a French member of Bolívar’s staff, wrote the following description of the Liberator in a diary that he kept during their stay at Bucaramanga in 1828.


The General-in-Chief, Simón José Antonio Bolívar, will be forty-five years old on July 24 of this year, but he appears older, and many judge him to be fifty. He is slim and of medium height; his arms, thighs, and legs are lean. He has a long head, wide between the temples, and a sharply pointed chin. A large, round, prominent forehead is furrowed with wrinkles that are very noticeable when his face is in repose, or in moments of bad humor and anger. His hair is crisp, bristly, quite abundant, and partly gray. His eyes have lost the brightness of youth but preserve the luster of genius. They are deep-set, neither small nor large; the eyebrows are thick, separated, slightly arched, and are grayer than the hair on his head. The nose is aquiline and well formed. He has prominent cheekbones, with hollows beneath. His mouth is rather large, and the lower lip protrudes; he has white teeth and an agreeable smile. . . . His tanned complexion darkens when he is in a bad humor, and his whole appearance changes; the wrinkles on his forehead and temples stand out much more prominently; the eyes become smaller and narrower; the lower lip protrudes considerably, and the mouth turns ugly. In fine, one sees a completely different countenance: a frowning face that reveals sorrows, sad reflections, and somber ideas. But when he is happy all this disappears; his face lights up, his mouth smiles, and the spirit of the Liberator shines over his countenance. . . .


The Liberator has energy; he is capable of making a firm decision and sticking to it. His ideas are never commonplace—always large, lofty, and original. His manners are affable, having the tone of Europeans of high society. He displays a republican simplicity and modesty, but he has the pride of a noble and elevated soul, the dignity of his rank, and the amour-propre that comes from consciousness of worth and leads men to great actions. Glory is his ambition, and his glory consists in having liberated ten million persons and founded three republics. He has an enterprising spirit, combined with great activity, quickness of speech, an infinite fertility in ideas, and the constancy necessary for the realization of his projects. He is superior to misfortunes and reverses; his philosophy consoles him and his intelligence finds ways of righting what has gone wrong. . . .


He loves a discussion, and dominates it through his superior intelligence; but he sometimes appears too dogmatic, and is not always tolerant enough with those who contradict him. He scorns servile flattery and base adulators. He is sensitive to criticism of his actions; calumny against him cuts him to the quick, for none is more touchy about his reputation than the Liberator. . . .


His heart is better than his head. His bad temper never lasts; when it appears, it takes possession of his head, never of his heart, and as soon as the latter recovers its dominance it immediately makes amends for the harm that the former may have done. . . .


The great mental and bodily activity of the Liberator keeps him in a state of constant moral and physical agitation. One who observes him at certain moments might think he is seeing a madman. During the walks that we take with him he sometimes likes to walk very rapidly, trying to tire his companions out; at other times he begins to run and leap, to leave the others behind; then he waits for them to catch up and tells them they do not know how to run. He does the same when horseback riding. But he acts this way only when among his own people, and he would not run or leap if he thought that some stranger was looking on. When bad weather prevents walking or riding, the Liberator rocks himself swiftly back and forth in his hammock or strides through the corridors of his house, sometimes singing, at other times reciting verses or talking with those who walk beside him. When conversing with one of his own people, he changes the subject as often as he does his position; at such times one would say that he has not a bit of system or stability in him. How different the Liberator seems at a private party, at some formal gathering, and among his confidential friends and aides-de-camp! With the latter he seems their equal, the gayest and sometimes the maddest of them all. At a private party, among strangers and people less well known to him, he shows his superiority to all others by his easy and agreeable ways and good taste, his lively and ingenious conversation, and his amiability. At a more formal gathering, his unaffected dignity and polished manners cause him to be regarded as the most gentlemanly, learned, and amiable man present. . . .


In all the actions of the Liberator, and in his conversation, as I have already noted, one observes an extreme quickness. His questions are short and concise; he likes to be answered in the same way, and when someone wanders away from the question he impatiently says that that is not what he asked; he has no liking for a diffuse answer. He sustains his opinions with force and logic, and generally with tenacity. When he has occasion to contradict some assertion, he says: “No, sir, it is not so, but thus. . . .” Speaking of persons whom he dislikes or scorns, he often uses this expression: “That (or those) c***.” He is very observant, noting even the least trifles; he dislikes the poorly educated, the bold, the windbag, the indiscreet, and the discourteous. Since nothing escapes him, he takes pleasure in criticizing such people, always making a little commentary on their defects. . . .


The ideas of the Liberator are like his imagination: full of fire, original, and new. They lend considerable sparkle to his conversation, and make it extremely varied. When His Excellency praises, defends, or approves something, it is always with a little exaggeration. The same is true when he criticizes, condemns, or disapproves of something. In his conversation he frequently quotes, but his citations are always well chosen and pertinent. Voltaire is his favorite author, and he has memorized many passages from his works, both prose and poetry. He knows all the good French writers and evaluates them competently. He has some general knowledge of Italian and English literature and is very well versed in that of Spain.


The Liberator takes great pleasure in telling of his first years, his voyages, and his campaigns, and of his relations and old friends. His character and spirit dispose him more to criticize than to eulogize, but his criticisms or eulogies are never baseless; he could be charged only with an occasional slight exaggeration. I have never heard his Excellency utter a calumny. He is a lover of truth, heroism, and honor and of the public interest and morality. He detests and scorns all that is opposed to these lofty and noble sentiments.


4. THE ROMANCE OF INDEPENDENCE


The revolutionary fervor that fueled Latin American independence movements sparked more than just political passions. Scholars have long noted the influence of Enlightenment-inspired notions of social equality, individual liberty, rule of law, and the supremacy of reason over emotion on revolutionary politics, especially during the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries in Europe and the Americas. Equally important for Latin American independence, which occurred a few decades after the revolutions in the United States (1776) and France (1789), was a European aesthetic movement known as Romanticism. In response to what they saw as the hyper-rationalism and materialism of Enlightenment thought, Romantics like English poets Percy Bysshe Shelley and George Gordon (Lord Byron) embraced the intense emotions provoked by love, horror, awe, and heroic acts as exaltations of a transcendent human spirit. This spirit was especially strong in the Great Liberator of Spanish America, Simón Bolívar and his famous paramour, Manuela Saenz, a young Peruvian socialite from an aristocratic family who left her older English husband for her dashing lover. Finding a time and place to be together with the frenetic Bolívar was difficult, especially in times of war, so the couple often resorted to love letters, two of which are included here. The letter from Saenz was written on July 27, 1822—the year she left her husband—from El Garzal, the country estate of Ecuadoran friends. The florid description of a pastoral paradise is clearly intended to lure Bolívar away from his military campaign. The letter from Bolívar was written on January 30, 1823—during the campaign to liberate Peru—from the General Pasto barracks. The passionate “crazy” love, erotic imagery, and classical references in Bolívar’s letter reveal a deep romantic sensibility. In 1828, after Saenz saved Bolívar from an assassination attempt, he dubbed her “the Liberator of the Liberator.” Their love affair lasted until his death two years later.


LETTER FROM MANUELA SAENZ TO SIMÓN BOLÍVAR


My dearest sir:


Here there is in everlasting abundance the enchantment of beauteous nature. The surroundings invite one to sing, to frolic; in short to live here. This ambiance with its warm and delicious air, brings with it the vibrant emotions brought on by the scent of fresh-pressed sugar-cane liquor, and conjures up a thousand sweet sensations. I tell myself: this earth deserves to feel your Excellency’s footsteps. The woods and the tree-lined road at the entrance to El Garzal, wet from nocturnal dew, would accompany your arrival, filling you with nostalgia for your beloved Caracas. The meadows, orchards, and gardens, which are everywhere, will reveal to you the shining inspiration of love, despite your Excellency’s almost total dedication to war.


The hillsides and fields bursting with flowers and woodland grasses are a gift to the sight and an enchantment to the soul. The main house invites repose, meditation, and reading by the stillness of its setting. The dining room, flooded with light from the windows, welcomes everyone with joy; and the bedrooms are devoted to rest, as if begging to be saturated with love. . . .


The sand bars on the banks of the Garzal conspire to strip bodies naked and soak them submerged in a Venusian bath, accompanied by the murmuring of nearby bamboo and the songs of parakeets and parrots frightened by their own nervousness. I tell you how much I desire your presence here. This entire painting is my invention; therefore I beg you to forgive its extravagances, caused by my anxious desire for you and to see you here enjoying this [place], which is so beautiful.


                        Yours heart and soul,


                        Manuela Saenz


LETTER FROM SIMÓN BOLÍVAR TO MANUELA SAENZ


My adored Manuelita,


I received your message, which brought joy to my soul, at the same time that it made me jump up from the bed, lest [my soul] fall victim to the inquietude it provoked in me.


Beautiful Manuela, Manuela mine, this very day I give up everything and go, like a spark that pierces the universe, to meet with the sweetest, most tender woman who fuels my passions with the infinite desire to enjoy you here and now, without thought of distance. Can you feel it? Is it true that I am crazy for you?


You name me and you have me in an instant. Know well my friend that I am at this moment singing the music and humming the sound that you hear. I think about your eyes, your hair, the aroma of your body, the smoothness of your skin, and I pack up immediately like Marc Antony running off to Cleopatra. I see your ethereal shape before my eyes, and hear the murmur that seeks desperately to escape your lips, to go in search of me.


Wait for me, and do it dressed in a blue, transparent veil, like the nymph who carried off the Argonaut [Eds: in the Greek myth of the voyage of the Argo, Hercules’s companion Hylas was abducted by water nymphs].


                        Yours,


                        Bolívar


5. LIBERAL REVOLUTION IN MEXICO


The first phase of Mexican independence began on September 16, 1810, when a Creole priest, Father Miguel Hidalgo y Costilla (1750–1811), gave the famous Grito de Dolores (Cry of Dolores), calling for independence and the overthrow of the current “bad” government—although not the King of Spain, who was under house arrest in France—in the name of the “dark-skinned” Virgin of Guadalupe, Mexico’s patron saint and spiritual mother. Although Hidalgo and his fellow conspirators raised a sizeable army that captured (and sacked) several major cities and towns in north central Mexico, his forces were defeated by a much smaller but much better-trained Spanish army; within the year Hidalgo had been captured, excommunicated, defrocked, shot, and decapitated. A former seminary rector and later a village priest, Hidalgo had drawn inspiration from Enlightenment-inspired “liberal” ideas and in 1810, during his brief stint as supreme commander of the revolutionary army, he decreed an end to slavery and a return of some Indian lands. However, the brevity of his insurrection prevented him from developing a clear political agenda. One of his lieutenants, a mestizo priest, Father José María Morelos (1765–1815), took up Hidalgo’s banner and waged a more successful insurgent campaign in south central Mexico. In 1813, before he too was defeated and executed, Morelos convened a constitutional convention in the town of Chilpancingo and supplied it with twenty-three “points” that he titled, Sentiments of the Nation. Endorsed by the assembly on September 14, Morelos’s points reflect the influence of “liberal” ideas such as popular sovereignty, legal equality, representative government, lower taxes, and a ban on torture as well as more “conservative” notions of religious intolerance.


1. That America is free and independent of Spain, and of any other nation, government or monarchy . . .


2. That the Catholic religion shall be the only one without tolerance of any other.


3. That all ministers of the Church shall be supported entirely and only by tithes and primacias [the “first fruit” of the harvest biblically offered up in thanks to God], and that the people shall not have to pay more fees than those of their devotion and offerings.


4. That dogma shall be upheld by the hierarchy of the Church, comprised of the Pope, bishops, and priests, because every plant that God has not planted will be pulled up by the roots: Omnis plantatio quam non plantavit Pater meus caelestis eradicabitur (Matthew 15:13). [Eds: Morelos includes the Latin text of Jesus’s teaching, which refers to God as “my heavenly Father.”]


5. That sovereignty springs directly from the people, who choose only to entrust it to the Supreme National American Congress, composed of representatives of the provinces in equal numbers.


6. That the legislative, executive, and judicial powers shall be divided into compatible bodies to exercise [their respective powers].


7. That representatives serve for four years, taking turns, with the longest-serving members leaving office so the newly elected can take their positions.


8. That the salary of the representatives will be sufficient but not excessive, and for the present will not exceed 8,000 pesos.


9. That only Americans [that is, those born in the Americas] can hold public office.


10. That foreigners will not be admitted [into Mexico], unless they are skilled artisans, capable of instructing others and free of all suspicion.


11. That states change their practices and, to that end, the country will not be completely free and ours until the government is reformed, suppressing tyranny, replacing it with liberal ideas, and also expelling from our soil the Spanish enemy that has declared itself so forcefully against our country.


12. That since a good law is superior to any man, those that our congress dictate shall require fidelity and patriotism, moderate opulence and indigence, and in this way increase the daily wages of the poor, better their standard of living, and dispel ignorance, pillage, and theft.


13. That the general laws apply to all, without an exception for privileged bodies [such as the clergy and the army], and that these shall exist only in so far as they are useful.


14. That for a law to be enacted, a council of wise men in good number be brought together, so that they may exercise sound judgment in carrying out the responsibilities with which they are charged.


15. That slavery be prohibited forever as well as any [legal] distinctions between classes, leaving everyone equal, and Americans shall be distinguished from one another only by their vice or virtue.


16. That our ports be open to friendly foreign nations, as long as they do not go inland, however good their intentions. And there will be special ports for this purpose—disembarking at all others being prohibited—with tariffs [import-export fees] set at ten percent.


17. That everyone shall behave with propriety and respect in their homes as they would in a sacred asylum, with punishments set for violators.


18. That the new legislation shall not permit torture.


19. That constitutional law establish for all towns [throughout the nation] the celebration of December 12, dedicating it to the patroness of our liberty, Mary Most Holy of Guadalupe, [and] charge all towns with a monthly devotion.


20. That foreign troops or those of another kingdom not set foot upon our soil, and if they come to help, that they never be [permitted] near the Supreme Junta [Ruling Council].


21. That no [military] expeditions be sent outside the country, especially in naval operations, excepting those [missionary expeditions] that seek to propagate the faith to our brothers in faraway lands.


22. That an end be put to the infinity of burdensome tributes, taxes, and fees, and that each individual be directed to pay five percent of his seeds or other earnings, or another similarly light charge . . . since with this light levy and the careful administration of goods confiscated from the enemy, it will be possible to cover the costs of the war and the salaries of government employees.


23. That every year September 16 be solemnly celebrated as the day on which the cry of independence arose, and our holy liberty began, because on this day the lips of our nation parted to claim its rights, with sword in hand so that it might be heard, [and in this way] commemorating the worthiness of our great hero, señor Don Miguel Hidalgo and his companion Ignacio Allende [a soldier-patriot executed by Spanish authorities].


6. THE PLAN OF IGUALA


Ironically, the work begun by Hidalgo and Morelos was consummated by a Creole officer, Agustín de Iturbide (1783–1824), who for nine years had fought the insurgents with great effectiveness. Behind Iturbide were conservative churchmen, army officers, and officials, who preferred separation from Spain to submission to the liberal Constitution of 1812, which the army imposed on Ferdinand VII. In his Historical Essay on the Mexican Revolutions (1831), Lorenzo de Zavala (1788–1836), a brilliant Mexican statesman, publicist, and historian, describes the origin and triumph of the Plan of Iguala, a much less liberal document than the constitution proposed by Morelos, Iturbide’s former opponent.


Popular revolutions present anomalies whose origin or causes are unknowable. Men who have followed one party, who have fought for certain principles, who have suffered for their loyalty to certain views or persons, suddenly change and adopt a completely different line of conduct. Who would ever have thought that the Mexican officer who had shed the blood of so many of his compatriots to maintain his country in slavery was destined to place himself at the head of a great movement that would destroy forever the Spanish power? What would have been thought of a man’s sanity if in 1817 he had said that Iturbide would occupy the place of Morelos or would replace [revolutionary Francisco Javier] Mina? Yet the astonished Mexicans and Spaniards saw this happen.


Don Agustín de Iturbide, colonel of a battalion of provincial troops and a native of Valladolid de Michoacán, was endowed with brilliant qualities, and among his leading traits were uncommon bravery and vigor. To a handsome figure he united the strength and energy necessary to endure the great exertions of campaigning, and ten continuous years of this activity had fortified his natural qualities. He was haughty and domineering, and it was observed that to stay in favor with the authorities he had to remain at a distance from those who were in a position to give him orders. Every time that he came to Mexico City or other places where there were superiors, he gave indications of his impatience. . . . It is said that he was involved in a plan hatched at Valladolid in 1809 for the achievement of independence but withdrew because he was not placed in command, though his rank at the time did not qualify him for leadership. Be that as it may, there is no doubt that Iturbide had a superior spirit, and that his ambition was supported by that noble resolution that scorns dangers and does not retreat before obstacles of every kind. He had faced danger and difficulty in combat; he had learned the power of Spanish weapons; he had taken the measure of the chiefs of both parties—and one must confess that he did not err in his calculations when he set himself above all of them. He was conscious of his superiority, and so did not hesitate to place himself at the head of the national party, if he could only inspire the same confidence in his compatriots. He discussed his project with men whose talents would be useful to him in the political direction of affairs, and henceforth he threw himself heart and soul into forming a plan that would offer guarantees to citizens and monarchists and at the same time would remove all cause for fear on the part of the Spaniards.


Anyone who examines the famous Plan of Iguala (so called because it was made public in that town for the first time), bearing in mind the circumstances of the Mexican nation at the time, will agree that it was a masterpiece of politics and wisdom. All the Mexicans desired independence, and this was the first basis of that document. The killings of Spaniards that had taken place, in reprisal for those that the Spaniards had committed during the past nine years, required a preventive, so to speak, to put an end to such atrocious acts, which could not fail to arouse hostility among the 50,000 Spaniards who still resided in the country. It was necessary to make plain the intentions of the new chief in this respect. Accordingly, he seized upon the word union as expressing the solidarity that should exist between Creoles and Spaniards, regarded as citizens with the same rights. Finally, since the Catholic religion is the faith professed by all Mexicans, and since the clergy has a considerable influence in the country, the preservation of this church was also stated to be a fundamental basis, under the word religion. These three principles, independence, union, and religion, gave Iturbide’s army its name of “the Army of the Three Guarantees.” The representative monarchical system was established, and various articles stated the elementary principles of this form of government and the individual rights guaranteed to the people. Finally, the Spaniards were given freedom to leave the country with all their property. The expeditionary forces were offered the privilege of returning to Spain at the expense of the public treasury; those who chose to stay would be treated like Mexican soldiers. As can be seen, the plan reconciled all interests, and, raising New Spain to the rank of an independent nation, as was generally desired, with its immense benefits, it silenced for the time being the particular aspirations of those who wanted the republic on the one hand and the absolute monarchy on the other. All the sons of the country united around the principle of nationality, putting aside for the moment their different ideals. We shall soon see the sprouting of these germs of ideas, as yet enveloped in mists or suppressed by the great matter of the common cause.


Don Agustín de Iturbide made all these preparations in the greatest secrecy, and to conceal his projects more effectively he entered or pretended to enter the church of San Felipe Neri to take part in religious exercises. There, it is said, was framed the document I mentioned. This display of piety, and the prudence and reserve with which he managed the affair, inspired the viceroy, who also was devout, to entrust him with the command of a small division assigned to pursue Don Vicente Guerrero, whose forces had increased considerably after the arrival of the news of the Spanish revolution. At the end of the year 1820 Colonel Iturbide set out from Mexico City, charged with the destruction of Guerrero but actually intending to join him at the first opportunity to work with him for the achievement of national independence. A few days after his departure from the capital, Iturbide drew near to Guerrero’s camp. The latter had routed Colonel Berdejo, also sent out in his pursuit, in a minor clash, and this provided Iturbide with an opportunity to send Guerrero a letter inviting the patriot leader to abandon the enterprise that had cost the country so much futile bloodshed: “Now that the King of Spain has offered liberal institutions and confirmed the social guarantees of the people, taking an oath to support the Constitution of 1812, the Mexicans will enjoy a just equality, and we shall be treated like free men.” He added: “The victories that you have recently gained over the government forces should not inspire you with confidence in future triumphs, for you know that the fortunes of war are mutable, and that the government possesses great resources.”


This letter was written very artfully, for at the same time that it suggested a desire to enter into agreements and relations with the insurgents it aroused no suspicion in the viceroy, who interpreted it as reflecting the same policy that had been so useful to him in pacifying the country. Presumably the persons employed by Iturbide to deliver these letters carried private instructions explaining his intentions. General Guerrero replied, with the energy that he always showed in defending the cause of independence and liberty, that he was resolved “to continue defending the national honor, until victory or death”; that he was “not to be deceived by the flattering promise of liberty given by the Spanish constitutionalists, who in the matter of independence [hold] the same views as the most diehard royalists; that the Spanish constitution [offers] no guarantees to the Americans.” He reminded Iturbide of the exclusion of the castes [hierarchy of racial categories] in the Cadiz constitution; of the diminution of the American representatives; and, finally, of the indifference of the viceroys to these liberal laws. He concluded by exhorting Iturbide to join the national party, and invited him to take command of the national armies, of which Guerrero himself was then the leader. The vigorous tone of this letter, the sound observations that it contained, the convincing logic of its judgments, produced an astounding effect upon the Mexicans. Iturbide needed no persuasion; we have seen him depart from Mexico City with the intent of proclaiming the independence of the country, and the only matter left unsettled was the precise method of beginning the work, with himself as the leader of the daring enterprise.


He received this letter in January 1821, and replied to General Guerrero, in a few lines, that he wished to “confer with [him] about the means of working together for the welfare of the kingdom” and hoped that he (Guerrero) “would be fully satisfied concerning his intentions.” An agreement was reached for an interview between the two men. [Eds: Historians are not in agreement concerning the time of the first meeting between Iturbide and Guerrero.] General Guerrero himself supplied me with details of what took place at this meeting. The conference was held in a town in the State of Mexico. . . . The two chiefs approached each other with some mutual distrust, although that of Guerrero was plainly the more justified. Iturbide had waged a cruel and bloody war on the independents since 1810. The Spanish leaders themselves hardly equaled this unnatural American in cruelty; and to see him transformed as if by magic into a defender of the cause that he had combated, would naturally arouse suspicions in men like the Mexican insurgents, who had often been the victims of their own credulity and of repeated betrayals. Nevertheless, Iturbide, though sanguinary, inspired confidence by the conscientiousness with which he proceeded in all matters. He was not believed capable of an act of treachery that would stain his reputation for valor and noble conduct. For himself, he had very little to fear from General Guerrero, a man distinguished from the beginning for his humanity and for his loyalty to the cause he was defending. The troops of both leaders were within cannon shot of each other; Iturbide and Guerrero met and embraced. Iturbide was the first to speak: “I cannot express the satisfaction I feel at meeting a patriot who has supported the noble cause of independence and who alone has survived so many disasters, keeping alive the sacred flame of liberty. Receive this just homage to your valor and to your virtues.” Guerrero, who also was deeply moved, replied: “Sir, I congratulate my country, which on this day recovers a son whose valor and ability have caused her such grievous injury.” Both leaders seemed to feel the strain of this memorable event; both shed tears of strong emotion. After Iturbide had revealed his plans and ideas to Señor Guerrero, that leader summoned his troops and officers, and Iturbide did the same. When both armies had been joined, Guerrero addressed himself to his soldiers, saying: “Soldiers: The Mexican who appears before you is Don Agustín de Iturbide, whose sword wrought such grave injury for nine years to the cause we are defending. Today he swears to defend the national interests; and I, who have led you in combat, and whose loyalty to the cause of independence you cannot doubt, am the first to acknowledge Señor Iturbide as the chief of the national armies. Long live independence! Long live liberty!” From that moment everyone acknowledged the new leader as general-in-chief, and he now dispatched to the viceroy a declaration of his views and of the step he had taken. Iturbide sent General Guerrero to seize a convoy of Manila merchants bound for the port of Acapulco with 750,000 pesos; he himself set out for the town of Iguala, forty leagues to the south of Mexico City, where he published the plan which I have outlined. The Spanish troops began to leave Iturbide’s division, but the old patriot detachments began to reassemble everywhere to come to his aid.


All Mexico was set in motion by the declaration of Iguala. Apodaca immediately ordered General [Pascual] Liñán to march with a large division against the new leader, to strangle in its cradle this movement of threatening aspect. But this was not the tumultuous cry of Dolores of 1810; the viceroy was not dealing with a disorderly mob of Indians armed with sickles, stones, and slings and sending up the confused cry “Death to the gachupines [a disparaging term for immigrants from Spain]; long live Our Lady of Guadalupe!” He faced a chief of proven bravery, who, supported by the national will and followed by trained leaders, spoke in the name of the people and demanded rights with which they were well acquainted. . . . While this chief was making extraordinary progress in the provinces, the capital was in the greatest confusion. The Spaniards residing in Mexico City attributed the successes of Iturbide to the ineptitude of [Viceroy Juan José Ruiz de] Apodaca, who a short time before, according to them, had been the peacemaker, the tutelar angel, of New Spain; now this same man suddenly turned into an imbecile incapable of governing. They stripped him of his command, replacing him with the Brigadier Francisco Novella. This fact alone suffices to give an idea of the state of confusion in which the last defenders of the Spanish government found themselves. Reduced to the support of the expeditionary forces, the dying colonial regime immediately revealed the poverty of its resources. . . . Of the 14,000 soldiers sent to defend the imaginary rights of the Spanish government, only 6,000, at the most, remained—and what could they do against the Mexican army, which numbered at least 50,000 men? Arms, discipline—everything was equal except morale, which naturally was very poor among troops suddenly transported to a strange land, two thousand leagues away from their country. . . . Was it surprising that they surrendered, in view of the situation? Thus, between the end of February, when Iturbide proclaimed his Plan of Iguala, and September 27, when he made his triumphant entry into Mexico City, only six months and some days elapsed, with no other memorable actions than the sieges of Durango, Querétaro, Cordóba, and the capital. It was at this time that General Antonio López de Santa Anna, then lieutenant colonel, began to distinguish himself.


7. A LETTER TO DOM PEDRO


Brazil made a swift and relatively bloodless transition to independence. The immediate causes of separation were the efforts of a jealous Portuguese cortes to revoke the liberties and concessions Brazilians had won since 1808 and to force the prince regent, Dom Pedro, out of Brazil. Messages of support from juntas throughout the country, such as the following 1822 message from the junta of São Paulo, encouraged the prince to defy the Lisbon government and to issue his famous “fico” (“I remain”).


We had already written to Your Royal Highness, before we received the extraordinary gazette of the 11th instant, by the last courier: and we had hardly fixed our eyes on the first decree of the Cortes concerning the organization of the governments of the provinces of Brazil, when a noble indignation fired our hearts: because we saw impressed on it a system of anarchy and slavery. But the second, in conformity to which Your Royal Highness is to go back to Portugal, in order to travel incognito only through Spain, France, and England, inspired us with horror.


They aim at no less than disuniting us, weakening us, and in short, leaving us like miserable orphans, tearing from the bosom of the great family of Brazil the only common father who remained to us, after they had deprived Brazil of the beneficent founder of the kingdom, Your Royal Highness’s august sire. They deceive themselves; we trust in God, who is the avenger of injustice; He will give us courage, and wisdom.


If, by the 21st article of the basis of the constitution, which we approve and swear to because it is founded on universal and public right, the deputies of Portugal were bound to agree that the constitution made at Lisbon could then be obligatory on the Portuguese resident in that kingdom; and, that, as for those in the other three parts of the world, it should only be binding when their legitimate representatives should have declared such to be their will: How dare those deputies of Portugal, without waiting for those of Brazil, legislate concerning the most sacred interest of each province, and of the entire kingdom? How dare they split it into detached portions, each isolated, and without leaving a common centre of strength and union? How dare they rob Your Royal Highness of the lieutenancy, granted by Your Royal Highness’s august father, the King? How dare they deprive Brazil of the privy council, the board of conscience, the court of exchequer, the board of commerce, the court of requests, and so many other recent establishments, which promised such future advantage? Where now shall the wretched people resort in behalf of their civil and judicial interests? Must they now again, after being for twelve years accustomed to judgment at hand, go and suffer, like petty colonists, the delays and chicanery of the tribunals of Lisbon, across two thousand leagues of ocean, where the sighs of the oppressed lose all life and all hope? Who would credit it, after so many bland, but deceitful expressions of reciprocal equality and future happiness!


In the session of the 6th of August last, the deputy of the Cortes, Pereira do Carmo, said (and he spoke the truth) that the constitution was the social compact, in which were expressed and declared the conditions on which a nation might wish to constitute itself a body politic: and that the end of that constitution is the general good of each individual who is to enter into that social compact. How then dares a mere fraction of the great Portuguese nation, without waiting for the conclusion of this solemn national compact, attack the general good of the principal part of the same, and such is the vast and rich kingdom of Brazil; dividing it into miserable fragments, and, in a word, attempting to tear from its bosom the representative of the executive power, and to annihilate by a stroke of the pen, all the tribunals and establishments necessary to its existence and future prosperity? This unheard-of despotism, this horrible political perjury, was certainly not merited by the good and generous Brazil. But the enemies of order in the Cortes of Lisbon deceive themselves if they imagine that they can thus, by vain words and hollow professions, delude the good sense of the worthy Portuguese of both worlds.


Your Royal Highness will observe that, if the kingdom of Ireland, which makes part of the United Kingdom of Great Britain, besides that it is infinitely small compared to the vast kingdom of Brazil, and is separated from England but by a narrow arm of the sea, which is passed in a few hours, yet possesses a governor-general or viceroy, who represents the executive power of the King of the United Kingdom, how can it enter the head of anyone who is not either profoundly ignorant, or rashly inconsiderate, to pretend, that the vast kingdom of Brazil, should remain without a center of activity, and without a representative of the executive power; and equally without a power to direct our troops, so as that they may operate with celerity and effect, to defend the state against any unforeseen attack of external enemies, or against internal disorders and factions, which might threaten public safety, or the reciprocal union of the province!


We therefore entreat Your Royal Highness with the greatest fervor, tenderness, and respect to delay your return to Europe, where they wish to make you travel as a pupil surrounded by tutors and spies: We entreat you to confide boldly in the love and fidelity of your Brazilians, and especially of your Paulistas [residents of São Paulo], who are all ready to shed the last drop of their blood, and to sacrifice their fortunes, rather than lose the adored Prince in whom they have placed their well-founded hopes of national happiness and honor. Let Your Royal Highness wait at least for the deputies named by this province, and for the magistracy of this capital, who will as soon as possible present to Your Highness our ardent desires and firm resolutions; and deign to receive them, and to listen to them, with the affection and attention, which your Paulistas deserve from you.


May God preserve your Royal Highness’s august person many years.


8. MEMORIES OF INDEPENDENCE: THE SINS OF THE FATHER


Miguel Hidalgo (1753–1811), the scholarly, white-haired priest of the town of Dolores and onetime rector of the college of San Nicolás Valladolid, hardly seemed fitted by background and disposition to head a revolution. It was Hidalgo, nevertheless, who overcame the wavering of his associates when their conspiracy was discovered and transformed what had been planned as an upper-class Creole revolt into a rising of the masses. In his History of Mexico (1849–1852), Lucas Alamán, who knew Hidalgo in the peaceful years before the great upheaval, remembered the curate of Dolores. Alamán’s critical portrait of the “Father of Mexican Independence” reflects his conservative views on the independence wars, which he saw as responsible in part for Mexico’s political and economic troubles.


Don Miguel Hidalgo, being neither austere in his morals nor very orthodox in his opinions, did not concern himself with the spiritual administration of his parish, which he had turned over, together with half the income of his curacy, to a priest named Don Francisco Iglesias. Knowing French—a rather rare accomplishment at the period, especially among churchmen—he formed a taste for technical and scientific books and zealously promoted various agricultural and industrial projects in his parish. He considerably furthered viticulture, and today that whole region produces abundant harvests of grapes; he also encouraged the planting of mulberry trees for the raising of silkworms. In Dolores eighty-four trees planted by him are still standing, in the spot called “the mulberry trees of Hidalgo,” as well as the channels that he had dug for irrigating the entire plantation. He established a brickyard and a factory for the manufacture of porcelain, constructed troughs for tanning hides, and promoted a variety of other enterprises.


All this, plus the fact that he was not only generous but lavish in money matters, had won him the high regard of his parishioners—especially the Indians, whose languages he had mastered. It also gained him the esteem of all who took a sincere interest in the advancement of the country, men like Abad y Queipo, the bishop-elect of Michoacán, and Riaño, the intendant of Guanajuato. It seems, however, that he had little basic knowledge of the industries that he fostered, and even less of that systematic spirit which one must have to make substantial progress with them. Once, being asked by Bishop Abad y Queipo what method he used for picking and distributing the leaves to the silkworms according to their age, and for separating the dry leaves and keeping the silkworms clean—concerning which the books on the subject give such elaborate instructions—he replied that he followed no particular order, that he threw down the leaves as they came from the tree and let the silkworms eat as they wished. “The revolution,” exclaimed the bishop, who told me this anecdote, “was like his raising of silkworms, and the results were what might be expected!” Nevertheless, he had made much progress, and obtained enough silk to have some garments made for himself and for his stepmother. He also promoted the raising of bees, and brought many swarms of bees to the hacienda of Jaripeo when he bought that estate.


He was very fond of music, and not only had it taught to the Indians of his parish, where he formed an orchestra, but borrowed the orchestra of the provincial battalion of Guanajuato for the frequent parties that he gave in his home. Since his residence was a short distance from Guanajuato, he often visited the capital and stayed there for long periods of time. This gave me an opportunity to see him and to know him. He was fairly tall and stoop-shouldered, of dark complexion and quick green eyes; his head bent a little over his chest and was covered by sparse gray hair, for he was more than sixty years old. [Eds: Hidalgo was actually fifty-eight years old in 1810.] He was vigorous, though neither swift nor active in his movements; short of speech in ordinary conversation but animated in academic style when the argument grew warm. He was careless in dress, wearing only such garb as small town curates commonly wore in those days.


9. MEMORIES OF INDEPENDENCE: THE SELF-EFFACING LEADER


For Argentines the figure of José de San Martín has the same heroic and legendary quality that Bolívar possesses for the peoples of northern South America. San Martín was something of an enigma to his contemporaries, and we lack a description as revealing of the man as Perú de Lacroix’s sketch of Bolívar. From the military point of view, San Martín’s chief claim to greatness is his masterful campaign of the Andes, prelude to the decisive attack on Peru. To this day the standard biography of San Martín is by Bartolomé Mitre (1821–1906), distinguished Argentine soldier, historian, and statesman. Written in 1869—nearly half a century after the events it describes—Mitre’s biography sought to provide his newly unified countrymen with a heroic, modest, conscientious “Father” of Argentine independence. In this excerpt, Mitre describes San Martín’s painstaking preparations for the passage of the Andes.


San Martín tried to convince the enemy that he planned to invade Chile in the south, whereas he actually intended to strike in the center. This was a fixed major objective of his “war of nerves,” and that is why he deceived friend and enemy alike with misleading communications and incomplete confidences, guarding his secret until the last moment. In order to confirm [Francisco] Marcó, the Spanish governor of Chile, in his mistaken views, he devised a new stratagem, which, like all his ruses, bore the stamp of novelty and of a brain fertile in expedients.


Since 1814, San Martín, as governor of Cuyo, had cultivated friendly relations with the Pehuenche Indians, then masters of the eastern slopes of the cordillera south of Mendoza, in order to ensure the safe transit of his secret Chilean agents through the passes they dominated, and to have them on his side in case of an enemy invasion. At the time he assembled his army in the encampment of Plumerillo he decided to renew these relations, with the double object of deceiving the enemy with respect to his true plans, and of giving greater security and importance to the secondary operations which he planned to carry out by way of the southern passes. For this purpose he invited them to a general parley in the Fort of San Carlos, above the boundary line of the Diamond River, with the ostensible object of seeking permission to pass through their lands. He sent ahead trains of mules loaded with hundreds of barrels of wine and skins filled with aguardiente; with sweets, bright-colored cloths, and glass beads for the women; and, for the men, horse gear, foodstuffs of all kinds, and all the old clothes that the province could supply, in order to dazzle the allies. On the appointed day the Pehuenches approached the fort with barbaric pomp, blowing their horns, flourishing their long plumed lances, and followed by their women. The warriors were naked from the waist up and wore their long hair untied; all were in fighting trim. Each tribe was preceded by a guard of mounted grenadiers, whose correctly martial appearance contrasted with the savage appearance of the Indians. On approaching the esplanade of the fort, the women went to one side, and the men whirled their lances about by way of greeting. There followed a picturesque sham fight in Pehuenche style, with the warriors riding at full speed around the walls of the redoubt, from whose walls a gun fired a salvo every five minutes, to which the braves responded by striking themselves on the mouth and whooping with joy.


The solemn meeting that followed was held on the parade ground of the fort. San Martín asked permission to pass through the lands of the Pehuenches in order to attack the Spaniards through the Planchón and Portillo passes. The Spaniards, he told them, were foreigners, enemies of the American Indian, whose fields and herds, women and children, they sought to steal. The Colo-colo [chief] of the tribes was a white-haired ancient called Necuñan. After consulting the assembly and obtaining their opinions with suitable gravity, he told the general that with the exception of three caciques [chieftains], with whom they could deal later, all accepted his proposals, and they sealed the treaty of alliance by embracing San Martín, one after another. In proof of their friendship they immediately placed their arms in the keeping of the Christians and gave themselves up to an orgy that lasted for eight consecutive days. On the sixth day the general returned to his headquarters to await the result of these negotiations, whose object he kept secret from even his most intimate confidants.


The Creole diplomat had foreseen that the Indians, with their natural perfidy—or the dissident caciques, at any rate—would report his pretended project to Marcó, as actually happened. But just in case they should not do so, he hastened to communicate it to the Spanish leader directly by means of one of his characteristic ruses, in which he was aided by a coincidence that he had also foreseen. During the reorganization of his army he had cut the supposed communications of the Spaniards of Cuyo with Marcó, and the latter, ignorant of everything that was taking place east of the Andes, sent emissaries to obtain information from the individuals whom he believed to be his official correspondents. Such was San Martín’s vigilance that for two years not a single royalist spy had been able to penetrate into Cuyo without being captured in the cordillera by patriot guards who had been warned by secret agents in Chile. The last letters of the Spanish governor met the same fate. With these letters in his possession, San Martín summoned the supposed correspondents to his presence—among them was Castillo de Albo—showed them the incriminating letters, and with pretended anger (it is said that he even threatened them with a pistol that he had on his desk) forced them to write and sign replies that he dictated. In these replies he announced that “about the 15th of October” a squadron was preparing to leave Buenos Aires for an unknown destination. It was “composed of a frigate, three corvettes, two brigantines, and two transports, all under the command of the Englishman Teler [Taylor].” “San Martín,” they added, “has held a general parley with the Pehuenche Indians. The Indians have agreed to everything; we shall see how they carry out their pledges; caution and more caution; for lack of it our people have suffered imprisonment and depredations. Everything is known here.” In another he said that a French engineer had left Mendoza in order to construct a bridge over the Diamond River. San Martín’s letters, sent by an emissary who played the role of a double spy, were delivered to Marcó, who believed everything in them, lost his head entirely, and turned the whole province upside down to guard against a double invasion. At the same time San Martín informed the government of Buenos Aires that the purpose of the parley was to get the Indians “to assist the passage of the army with livestock and horses at the stipulated prices,” while to his confidant, Guido, he wrote: “I concluded with all success my great parley with the Indians of the south; they not only will aid the army with livestock but are committed to take an active part against the enemy.” As can be seen, San Martín was a well of large and small mysteries, with the naked truth hidden at the bottom.


Marcó, disheartened by the alarming news from his supposed correspondents in Cuyo, and by the simultaneous rising of the guerrillas of Manuel Rodríguez, who extended their excursions between the Maule and the Maipo and made armed assaults on villages in the very vicinity of the capital, dictated a series of senseless and contradictory measures that revealed the confusion in his mind and the fear in his heart. He ordered the ports to be fortified and attempted to convert some of them into islands with the object of preventing a disembarkation; at the same time he equipped a squadron to act against the imaginary fleet of Buenos Aires. He commanded that trenches should be thrown up in the pass of Uspallata, that the southern provinces of the kingdom should be mapped and that the entrances to the Maule and Planchón passes should be surveyed; but before these tasks had been completed he ordered strengthening of the guards at all the passes of the cordillera, from north to south. First he concentrated his troops and then he dispersed most of them again, moving them about in empty space. Finding no inspiration in himself, after jerking about like a puppet manipulated by San Martín, he finished by reproducing the man’s very gestures, like a monkey; in imitation of the patriot general he held a parley with the Araucanian Indians, but failed to devise a rational plan of defense.


The objective of the astute Argentine leader was fulfilled: the captain-general of Chile sought to defend all its land and sea frontiers simultaneously; consequently he dispersed his army and thus became weak everywhere, never suspecting the point of the true attack. To crown his confusion, the spies he sent to obtain accurate information either did not return or served San Martín by bringing back false reports that led him to commit new errors. Some of his advisers urged him to take the offensive; others, that he persevere in his absurd waiting plan; and only one of them, his secretary, Dr. Judas Tadeo Reyes, the least knowledgeable in warfare, suggested the plan he should have followed: concentrate the 50,000 veteran troops in the capital, disperse the militia troops about the country, and await the invasion in that posture. However, by this time Marcó was so distraught that good and bad counsels were equally useless. He himself graphically depicted his deplorable morale at this time (February 4, 1817): “My plans are reduced to continual movements and variations according to developments and news of the enemy, whose astute chief at Mendoza, kept informed of my situation by his innumerable lines of communication and the disloyal spies who surround me, seeks to surprise me.”


But it was not only the threat of impending invasion that made Marcó uneasy. His resources were scanty, and as a result of the stupid system of taxation established by [Spanish general and governor of Chile, Mariana de] Osorio and continued and intensified by himself, the very sources of further contributions were exhausted. In order to defray the public expenses he levied a tax on exports of grain and flour and imports of wine and sugar; simultaneously he decreed a forced loan of 400,000 pesos to be collected from individuals with an annual income of 1,000 pesos, not excluding civil and military officers, and payable in cash. The sole result of these measures was the spread of demoralization and discontent, which fanned the sparks of insurrection lighted by the agents of San Martín, who announced his immediate arrival at the head of a powerful liberating army. . . .


The situation was quite different in the encampment at Mendoza: here there was a methodical activity, an automatic obedience coupled with an enthusiasm born of understanding. A superior will, that knew what it wanted and what it was doing, directed all, inspiring the soldiers with the feeling that victory was certain. In Mendoza it was known what Marcó did, thought, or was going to do, whereas Marcó did not even know what he wanted to do. Everyone worked, each performing the task assigned to him, and they all trusted in their general. Pack mules and war horses were assembled; thousands of horseshoes were forged for the animals; packsaddles were made for the beasts of burden; fodder and provisions were stored; and herds of cattle were rounded up for the passage of the cordillera. Leaders, officers, and soldiers devoted themselves to their respective duties and positions. The arsenal turned out hundreds of thousands of cartridges. The forges blazed day and night, repairing arms and casting projectiles. The indefatigable Father Luis Beltrán supervised the construction of new machines by means of which, as he put it, the cannon would fly over the tops of the mountains like condors. The ingenious friar had invented, or rather adapted, a kind of narrow carriage (called zorra) of rude but solid construction which, mounted on four low wheels and drawn by oxen or mules, replaced the mounts of the cannon; the guns themselves would be carried on the backs of mules along the narrow, tortuous paths of the cordillera until they reached the plain on the other side. As a precaution, long slings were made in which the carriages and cannon would be hoisted over rough places between mules, as if in litters, one after the other; sleds of hide were also prepared in which heavy objects might be hauled up by hand or by a portable winch when the gradients were too steep for the mules.


Meanwhile the general-in-chief, silent and reserved, planned for everyone, inspected everything, and provided for all contingencies in the most minute detail, from food and equipment for men and beasts to the complicated machines of war, even seeing the cutting edge of his soldiers’ sabers.


The army needed a healthful and nourishing food that would restore the soldiers’ strength and would be suited to the frigid temperatures through which they must pass. San Martín found this in a popular dish called charquican, composed of beef dried in the sun, roasted, ground to powder, mixed with fat and chili pepper, and well pounded. A soldier could carry enough of this in his knapsack to last him eight days. Mixed with hot water and roasted maize meal it made a nutritious and appetizing porridge. . . . After providing for his soldiers’ stomachs, San Martín took thought for their feet—the vehicles of victory. In order to obtain footwear without burdening the treasury, he asked the cabildo of Mendoza to collect and send to the camp the scraps of cowhide discarded every day by the slaughterhouses of the city. From these pieces he had the soldiers make tamangos, a kind of closed sandal often used by the Negroes. . . . He carried economy to extreme lengths in order to show, in his own words, that great enterprises can be accomplished with small means. An order of the day, made public to the sound of drums, asked the people to bring to special depots old woolen rags that could be used to line the tamangos, because, San Martín declared, “the health of the soldiers is a powerful machine that if well directed can bring victory; and our first concern is to protect their feet.” The horns of slaughtered cattle were used to make canteens, necessary in crossing the waterless stretches of the cordillera. Another decree ordered all the cloth remnants in the stores and tailor shops of the city to be collected, and San Martín distributed them to the soldiers to make into straps for their knapsacks.


The sabers of the mounted grenadiers had lost their sharpness; San Martín had them given a razor-like edge and placed them in the hands of his soldiers, saying they were for cutting off Spanish heads. It was not enough to sharpen swords; arms had to be trained to use them; and martial instruments were needed to nerve the soldiers and to take the place of the officer’s voice in battle. San Martín chose the trumpet, an instrument rarely used by American cavalry at that time. The army had only three trumpets. San Martín had some made out of tin, but they were mute. In his application to the government San Martín wrote: “The trumpet is as necessary for the cavalry as is the drum for the infantry.” . . .


The general gave the matter of horseshoes his closest attention. Before making a decision he held conferences with veterinarians, blacksmiths, and muleteers; after carefully listening to them, he adopted a model of a horseshoe which he sent to the government telling the officer who carried it to guard it as if it were made of gold and to present it to the Minister of War. . . . The army needed thirty thousand horseshoes with a double set of nails. In two months they were forged by artisans who toiled day and night in the shops of the arms factory in Buenos Aires and in the forges of Mendoza.


How was the army to cross the deep ravines and torrents that lay before it? How were the heavy materials of war to ascend and descend the steep slopes of the mountains? And finally, how were the carriages and their loads to be rescued from the depths into which they might fall? These were problems that had to be solved. For river passages a rope bridge of a given weight and length (60 varas) was devised, and the piece of cable which was to be shown to the government as a model was entrusted to an officer with the same solemnity as the horseshoe. “It is impossible to transport the artillery and other heavy objects over the narrow defiles and slopes of the cordillera, or to rescue material fallen from the path,” wrote San Martín, “without the aid of two anchors and four cables, of a weight that can be transported on muleback.” With this apparatus, moved by a winch, the difficulties of the passage were overcome. . . .


Amid this official correspondence concerning the movement of men, materials, and money, an exchange of letters of mixed character took place between the two protagonists of our story: General San Martín and [General Juan Martín de] Pueyrredón, Director of the United Provinces of La Plata. Passionately devoted to the same cause, they aided and comforted each other, until they and their mission became one. . . .


“You don’t ask for much,” the Director would write San Martín, “and I feel bad because I don’t have the money to get these things for you; but I shall do my best, and by the beginning of October I shall have gotten together thirty thousand pesos for the use of the army.” But hardly had Pueyrredón assumed direction of the government and began to make good his promises when there broke out in Córdoba a confused anarchical revolt that threatened to throw the entire Republic into chaos. . . .


When the brief uprising of Córdoba had been crushed, the general of the Andes renewed his insistent urging, as has been shown from the official correspondence. The Director provided everything, and when he had satisfied all demands he took up his pen and wrote with humorous desperation and comradely forthrightness: “I am sending official letters of thanks to Mendoza and the other cities of Cuyo. I am sending the officers’ commissions. I am sending the uniforms you asked for and many more shirts. I am sending 400 saddles. I am sending off today by post two trumpets—all I could find. In January I shall send 1387 arrobas of dried beef. I am sending the 200 spare sabers that you asked for. I am sending 200 tents or pavilions; that’s all there are. I am sending the world, the flesh, and the devil! I don’t know how I shall get out of the scrape I’m in to pay for all this, unless I declare bankruptcy, cancel my accounts with everyone, and clear out to join you, so that you can give me some of the dried beef I’m sending you. Damn it, don’t ask me for anything else, unless you want to hear that they found me in the morning dangling from a beam in the Fort!” . . .


When everything was ready the general of the expedition asked for instructions concerning his military and political courses of action. The government, inspired by the same lofty aims as the general, drew up instructions infused with a broad, generous, and resolute spirit, in harmony with San Martín’s continental plan; and formulated, in words that deeds were to make good, the liberation policy of the Argentine Revolution in respect to the other peoples of South America, on the basis of independence and liberty for each one of them. “The consolidation of American independence” (said Article I) “and the glory of the United Provinces of South America are the only motives of this campaign. The general will make this clear in his proclamations; he will spread it through his agents in every town, and will propagate it by every possible means. The army must be impressed with these principles. Care must be taken that not a word is said of pillage, oppression, conquest, or retaining possession of the liberated country.” . . .


With these instructions in his portfolio, all decisions made, and the army poised at the eastern entrances to the Andes, San Martín, one foot already in the stirrup, wrote (January 24, 1817) his last letter to his most intimate confidant: “This afternoon I set out to join the army. God grant me success in this great enterprise.”
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Searching for a New Road


The Spanish American wars of independence inspired sharp rhetorical attacks on Spain’s work in America. Bolívar, for example, claimed that Dominican friar Bartolomé de Las Casas—renowned “Protector of the Indians” in the decades immediately following the conquest—had seen America bathed “with the blood of more than twenty million victims.” After independence the Spanish colonial legacy became a major issue in the political struggles of the new states. Liberals condemned Spanish tyranny, obscurantism, and backwardness and insisted on the need to liquidate the colonial heritage; conservatives, who often recalled the old social order with nostalgia, offered at least a partial defense of Spain’s colonial rule.


These differences among Spanish American elites produced a long, uphill struggle to achieve stable societies. The new states lacked a strong middle class, experience in self-government, and the other advantages the United States enjoyed at independence. The result was an age of violence, dictatorship, and revolution. Its symbol was the caudillo (strong man) whose power was based on authoritarian practices, no matter what the constitutional form. The caudillos played a crucial mediating role in the struggles between political parties, usually called Conservative and Liberal, which were active in most of the new states. Conservatism drew its main support from the landed aristocracy, the Church, and the military; liberalism attracted the merchants, provincial landowners, and professional men of the towns. Regional conflicts often cut across the lines of social cleavage, complicating the political picture.


As a rule, the Conservatives favored a highly centralized government and the social arrangements of the colonial era; the Liberals, inspired by the success of the United States, advocated a federal form of government, guarantees of individual rights, lay control of education, and an end to special privileges for the clergy and the military. Neither party displayed much interest in the problems of the landless, debt-ridden peasantry who formed the majority of almost every nation.


Independent Brazil made a relatively easy and rapid transition to a stable political order. The troubled reign of Dom Pedro I (1822–1831) and the stormy years of the Regency (1831–1840) were followed by the long and serene reign of Dom Pedro II (1840–1889). Brazil’s ruling class of great landowners deliberately sacrificed disruptive promises of “liberty” for solemn assurances of order and security, and vested the young emperor, called to rule at the age of fifteen, with virtually absolute power. The generally upward movement of Brazilian economic life and the considerable political skills of the emperor contributed to the success with which the system functioned for half a century.


1. THE FATAL LEGACY


In the decades after independence, Latin American leaders debated which road their countries should take to reach the goals of economic progress and political stability. Liberals looked to the United States, England, and France as models of dynamic advance; conservatives proposed to retain those features of the colonial regime not incompatible with the new republican order: the supremacy of the Catholic Church, clerical control of education, a hierarchical society with special privileges for the clergy and military, and the like. In 1844 two ardent liberals startled the staid conservative society of Santiago with their contributions to the debate. Francisco Bilbao (1823–1865) threw a bombshell with his famous essay on “The Nature of Chilean Society,” in which he declared, “Slavery, degradation: that is the past. . . . Our past is Spain. Spain is the Middle Ages. The Middle Ages are composed, body and soul, of Catholicism and feudalism.” Bilbao was tried and condemned for blasphemy, sedition, and immorality; he lost his university chair, and his book was officially burned by the public hangman. (See Excerpt 4, this chapter, for Bilbao’s unfavorable opinion of post-independence governments.) That same year, José Victorino Lastarria (1817–1888), more moderate and scholarly, caused a lesser stir with a public address “Investigations on the Social Influence of the Conquest and the Colonial System of the Spaniards in Chile.” Despite an occasional factual error—such as the statement that Spain forbade the printing and sale of books of every kind in America—it remains an effective summary of the liberal case against the Spanish colonial regime.


It is well known that the Spaniards who conquered America drenched its soil in blood, not in order to colonize it but to acquire the precious metals it yielded so abundantly. Torrents of adventurers flowed over the New World; they were obsessed by the hope of gaining immense wealth at little cost, and to this end they directed all their activity, sparing no means or violence in order to achieve it. At last reality dispelled their illusions, and the conquistadors, convinced by their own experience that the fertility of the American mines was not as great as they had hoped, gradually abandoned their daring speculations and began to devote themselves to agricultural and commercial enterprises. But this new direction of their ambitions did not yield the benefits that might have been expected, given the potential wealth of the American soil, for they had neither the inclination nor the intelligence to exploit this new source of riches; and their government, for its part, with its absurd economic system, stopped up the very sources of economic progress.
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